
 United Nations  E/2009/SR.18

  
 

Economic and Social Council  
Provisional 
 
5 January 2010 
English 
Original: French 

 

 

Corrections to this record should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be 
set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent 
within one week of the date of this document to the Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des 
Nations, Geneva. 
 

09-44233 (E) 
*0944233* 

Substantive session of 2009 
Coordination segment 
 

Provisional summary record of the 18th meeting 
Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Friday, 10 July 2009, at 3 p.m. 
 

 President: Mr. Soborun (Vice President) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Mauritius) 
 
 
 

Contents 
 

The role of the United Nations system in implementing the ministerial declaration of 
the high-level segment of the substantive session of 2008 of the Economic and 
Social Council 



 

2 09-44233 
 

E/2009/SR.18  

In the absence of Ms. Lucas (Luxembourg), Mr. Soborun 
(Mauritius), Vice-President, took the Chair 
 

The meeting was called to order at 3.15 p.m. 
 
 

The role of the United Nations system in 
implementing the ministerial declaration of the 
high-level segment of the substantive session of 2008 
of the Economic and Social Council (agenda item 4) 
 

1. The President, opening the coordination 
segment, said that the 2008 ministerial declaration 
entitled “Implementing the internationally agreed goals 
and commitments in regard to sustainable 
development” (E/2008/L.10) had stressed that the 
international implementation of the globally agreed 
framework for action had been threatened by multiple 
and interrelated challenges, ranging from financial 
instability to a global economic slowdown, rising food 
and fuel prices, and the impact of environmental 
degradation and climate change. The current global 
financial and economic crisis had made it obvious that 
the existing growth paths were neither sustainable nor 
conducive to the achievement of the internationally 
agreed development goals.  

2. It was necessary to adopt a new approach that 
would reconcile short-term sectoral policies and 
objectives with the long-term goal of sustainable 
development. That approach would require a more 
balanced pursuit of social, economic and 
environmental objectives. The Declaration had called 
for urgent and concerted measures in a number of areas 
related to sustainable development, such as agriculture, 
rural development, water management, energy, 
urbanization, institutional development and social 
equality. The United Nations system could play an 
important role in promoting the integration of those 
dimensions into national development strategies. The 
2009 coordination segment offered the Council an 
opportunity to assess the role of the United Nations 
system in supporting national efforts to pursue 
sustainable development. 

3. The coordination segment would also focus on 
the Council’s role in the integrated and coordinated 
implementation and follow-up reserved to the 
outcomes of the major United Nations conferences and 
summits. The internationally agreed development 
goals, including the Millennium Development Goals 
(MDGs), had increasingly forged a shared vision of 
development, based on an integrated and holistic 

approach to the economic, social and environmental 
dimensions. Although the Council had made significant 
progress in enhancing coherence and coordination 
among the follow-up activities and institutions 
concerned, major challenges remained because national 
Governments and the United Nations bodies entrusted 
with such follow-up continued to operate along 
sectoral lines.  

4. The new mechanisms of the Council - the Annual 
Ministerial Review (AMR) and the Development 
Cooperation Forum (DCF) - constituted an important 
step towards the development of a more comprehensive 
framework for all follow-up activities carried out by 
various national and United Nations entities. The 
coordination segment provided the Council with an 
opportunity to consider ways to enhance follow-up 
policy coherence through those two mechanisms.  

5. Mr. Stelzer (Assistant Secretary-General for 
Policy Coordination and Inter-Agency Affairs), 
presenting the Annual overview report of the United 
Nations System Chief Executives Board for 
Coordination for 2008/09 (E/2009/67), said that the 
report described the main developments in inter-agency 
cooperation within the framework of the Chief 
Executives Board (CEB) during the period covering its 
October 2008 and April 2009 sessions. 

6. Building on intergovernmental and the important 
internal reforms carried out earlier, CEB had responded 
in a timely and integrated manner to multiple demands 
placed on the United Nations system. The three pillars 
of CEB - the High Level Committee on Policies (HLCP, 
formerly High Level Committee on Programmes), the 
High Level Committee on Management (HLCM) and 
the United Nations Development Group (UNDG) - 
worked closely together to strengthen coordination on 
programmatic, administrative and operational issues 
across the system.  

7. In view the many-sided crisis, CEB had tasked 
the HLCP Chair to lead a detailed review of the 
challenges facing the international community and of 
possible United Nations system responses, with a view 
to developing a comprehensive and coherent strategy. 
Two important principles had emerged. First, the 
responses to the crisis should be coordinated at the 
international level. Second, they should address the 
fundamental imbalances which had characterized the 
global economy before the crisis. CEB had endorsed 
nine initiatives, which had been recommended to it by 



 

09-44233 3 
 

 E/2009/SR.18

HLCP and concerned the following areas: Additional 
financing for the most vulnerable; food security; trade; 
green economy; a global jobs pact; a social protection 
floor; humanitarian action, security and social stability; 
technology and innovation; and monitoring and 
analysis.  

8. Every one of those initiatives was led by one or 
more CEB member organizations having the 
appropriate competence. At a recent meeting, the 
leaders of the nine initiatives had presented initial 
frameworks for action, highlighting the steps to be 
taken on an urgent basis at the global level in view of 
the respective national needs and priorities. The 
frameworks clearly distinguished between those steps 
from measures aimed at sustained human security over 
the long run. That meeting had served to chart out a 
common framework for implementing the initiatives, in 
particular at the operational level, and to agree on an 
uncomplicated reporting system to keep track of 
progress made and to ensure unity of purpose across 
the initiatives. All those initiatives would require 
support and the necessary resources. 

9. Under the leadership of the Secretary-General, 
efforts launched by CEB and HLCP in early 2007 in 
response to the global challenge of climate change had 
taken more concrete shape during the reporting period. 
Once the initial programmatic work had been 
completed at Headquarters, emphasis had shifted to 
obtaining results at the regional and country levels. In 
addition, CEB had reviewed the progress made towards 
mainstreaming disaster risk reduction in the policies 
and strategies of the United Nations system. Given the 
regional dimension of that issue and of other global 
challenges, HLCP had focused on how best to 
articulate the linkage between its own policy analysis 
function and the analogous function of the regional 
coordination mechanisms, convened by the regional 
commissions.  

10. With regard to operational activities, CEB had 
endorsed the management and accountability 
framework of the United Nations development and 
resident coordinator system, including a functional 
firewall for the resident coordinator system. Moreover, 
the focus of the “Delivering as One” pilot projects 
carried out in eight countries had shifted to achieving 
tangible results. 

11. In an increasingly difficult operating 
environment, CEB had expressed serious concerns over 

the increased risks faced by United Nations personnel 
in many parts of the world. At the request of the 
Secretary-General, a process of preparing actionable 
recommendations and options for more effective 
system-wide security management had been initiated.  

12. CEB had actively pursued the development of a 
plan of action for the harmonization of business 
practices in the United Nations system. The plan 
covered all major management functions of the 
system’s organizations and would be implemented on 
extrabudgetary funding. A first contribution of 
approximately US$270,000 had been generously made 
by the Government of New Zealand. 

13. HLCM had identified a common conceptual 
framework for introducing capital budgeting into the 
organizations of the system. A joint United Nations 
system staff directory was currently being developed. 
Progress in the area of human resources had included 
the finalization of a policy statement on staff with 
disabilities, the introduction of a questionnaire for the 
exit interviews of staff leaving an organization and the 
launch of a review of the mandatory age of retirement. 
The Procurement Network set up by HLCM aimed at 
harmonizing purchasing processes and practices in 
field offices, particularly in countries where the 
“Delivering as One” pilot projects were being 
implemented. Substantial improvements had also been 
made to the United Nations Global Marketplace 
website, used by more than 2,500 United Nations 
procurement practitioners and hosting information on 
approximately 13,000 potential suppliers. 

14. Lastly, cooperation between CEB and the Joint 
Inspection Unit had become closer during the reporting 
period  

The meeting was suspended at 3.40 p.m. and resumed 
at 4.30 p.m. 
 

Panel discussion on “The role of the United Nations 
system in promoting sustainable development in the 
context of current challenges” 
 

15. The President said that, despite the broad 
international consensus supporting it, the 
comprehensive sustainable development framework 
established by the United Nations system was still 
inadequately implemented and progress towards 
sustainable development had been limited. In addition, 
successive recent crises - the financial and economic 



 

4 09-44233 
 

E/2009/SR.18  

crisis and the food and energy crises - had clearly 
shown that current paths to growth were unsustainable. 
The challenge faced by the United Nations system was 
to lend more effective support to countries taking steps 
to implement the sustainable development agenda.  

16. The panel discussion provided an opportunity for 
the Council to understand the short- and long-term 
impact of current challenges on sustainable 
development, to identify ways in which those 
challenges could be addressed, and to recommend 
measures designed to enable the United Nations 
system, by strengthening its the role, to support 
national efforts more effectively. The Council could 
explore ways for CEB and HLCP to promote greater 
coherence and cooperation within the system in order 
to facilitate synergies between programmes and 
activities related to sustainable development, and for 
the functional commissions and other 
intergovernmental bodies to enhance policy coherence 
among the various system interventions.  

17. Mr. Stelzer (Assistant Secretary-General for 
Policy Coordination and Inter-Agency Affairs), 
speaking as moderator, said that the efforts undertaken 
so far had aimed at striking a balance between the three 
components of sustainable development: economic 
growth, social development and environmental 
protection. Although the current crisis required 
pursuing vigorous economic growth, there was 
awareness of the need to reduce the adverse 
environmental impact of such growth as much as 
possible. Social development should be a priority and 
all strategies employed should focus on job creation 
and decent employment for all. Over and above 
considering the short- or long-term impact of the crises 
experienced and how to mitigate their effects, the panel 
discussion offered an opportunity to review the 
initiatives launched by the United Nations system and 
to look into ways of strengthening them. That task was 
particularly important in view of the system’s 
determination to translate the rich normative 
framework on sustainable development into policies 
and practical measures supporting national 
development strategies.  

18. Mr. Jarraud (Secretary-General of the World 
Meteorological Organization (WMO)), accompanying 
his statement with a computerized slide presentation, 
said that he would address the issues on which his 
organization, in cooperation with its United Nations 
partners, could take action that made a difference. In 

the last 25 years, natural disasters - related to climate, 
water or extreme weather conditions - had affected all 
countries to various degrees. With climate change, 
those phenomena were becoming more frequent, more 
intense and probably more devastating in various parts 
of the world. It was therefore vital to integrate 
prevention into the sustainable development process 
and to bear in mind that developing countries were the 
ones most gravely affected. In fact, as a proportion of 
GDP, the economic impact of such phenomena on 
sustainable development amounted to 12-25 per cent 
among the poorest countries compared to 2-3 per cent 
among the wealthiest. In the last 50 years, economic 
losses due to meteorological disasters had increased by 
a factor of 50, while losses in human lives had 
decreased by a factor of 10 thanks to the preventive 
measures taken and to early warning system 
improvements.  

19. In the case of geophysical disasters (earthquakes 
and volcanic eruptions), the situation was different. As 
the current state of knowledge did not yet allow 
developing early warning systems, the number of 
human lives lost had not decreased and investment in 
relevant research should be considerably reinforced. 
The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC) regularly prepared reports on relevant 
accumulated knowledge, drawing on contributions 
made by all United Nations bodies and programmes 
under the leadership of the United Nations 
Environment Programme (UNEP) and WMO. 
Moreover, the United Nations had made significant 
progress in cooperation and coordination of action 
related to climate change, and seemed determined to 
pursue that effort up to and beyond the fifteenth 
session of the Conference of the Parties to the United 
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change 
(UNFCCC). The action taken was based on two 
complementary pillars: mitigation of climate change 
effects and adaptation to such change. Adaptation 
entailed measures which varied considerably among 
sectors, for instance between health and agriculture, 
and therefore should be pursued on a sectoral basis in 
cooperation with the respective specialized United 
Nations agencies or programmes.  

20. United Nations joint action on climate change 
focused on five key areas, namely emission reduction, 
technology transfer, funding (for mitigation and 
adaptation measures), capacity-building and 
adaptation; and four intersectoral areas, namely 



 

09-44233 5 
 

 E/2009/SR.18

knowledge assessment (under the aegis of the United 
Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural 
Organization (UNESCO) and WMO), support for 
action undertaken at the national, regional and world 
levels, public awareness raising and communication, 
and the climate-neutral United Nations initiative. 
Strengthening the observation network in developing 
countries and all related databases and risk reduction 
activities was a crucial task, which WMO addressed 
through various initiatives (meetings on climate issues) 
and training programmes. Water was another area in 
which the United Nations cooperated closely with 
various organizations, particularly within the 
framework of the UN-Water mechanism, which 
coordinated the action of 26 bodies and programmes. 

21. Convinced of the need to provide links between 
the various actors, such as Governments, the private 
sector, private individuals and farmers, and data 
suppliers and researchers in order to ensure that the 
decisions taken were based on the information 
available, the WMO Secretary-General encouraged all 
heads of State and Government to participate in the 
Third World Climate Conference (WCC-3) to be held 
in early September 2009. 

22. Ms. Söder (Assistant Director-General at the 
Office of United Nations Coordination and Millennium 
Development Goals Follow-up of the Food and 
Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)) 
said that cooperation among the components of the 
United Nations system, particularly in the area of 
climate change, was considerably more active than 
might be thought. For instance, in parallel with her 
duties in FAO, she was a member of UNDG and that 
double capacity facilitated coordination between the 
activities of those two bodies.  

23. According to FAO estimates, the number of 
persons suffering from malnutrition was expected to 
exceed one billion by 2009, while enormous challenges 
remained to be met in order to ensure access to food, 
water and land and to deal with the effects of climate 
change. The world population was expected to attain 
9.2 billion persons by 2050. To nourish them, the 
global food production should double. With water and 
land resources more limited than in the past, more 
efficient agricultural methods should be adopted. The 
main challenge consisted in boosting agricultural 
output while limiting its environmental effects. It was 
therefore urgent to adopt sustainable production 
methods. Agriculture and livestock practices should be 

adapted in order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
from those activities.  

24. Against that backdrop, the recent G8 commitment 
to mobilizing US$20 billion in order to ensure food 
security and to help developing countries to achieve 
self-sustenance was particularly encouraging. That 
decision had been the outcome of more than a year’s 
efforts by the United Nations Secretary-General’s 
High-Level Task Force on the Global Food Security 
Crisis and of close cooperation among the relevant 
bodies, including the World Food Programme (WFP), 
the International Fund for Agricultural Development 
(IFAD) and FAO. 

25. The High-Level Conference on World Food 
Security organized in Rome in 2008 by FAO had led to 
the adoption of a declaration, in which the participants 
had pledged to cooperate closely in order to meet 
current challenges related to climate change and 
bioenergy. Although they had failed to reach a 
consensus on biofuel, they had made a commitment to 
resuming consideration of that issue and to adopting a 
joint position at future international meetings on 
sustainable development, agriculture and biofuel. 

26. At country level, FAO developed programmes 
aimed at mitigating the effects of climate change and 
helping States to adapt to it and to introduce 
ecosystem-friendly agricultural production methods. 
Such programmes were almost always developed in 
cooperation with other United Nations bodies. An 
example in point was the United Nations Collaborative 
Programme on Reducing Emissions from Deforestation 
and Forest Degradation in Developing Countries (UN-
REDD Programme), jointly implemented by FAO, 
UNDP and UNEP.  

27. Lastly, UNDG was actively preparing to 
participate in the fifteenth session of the Conference of 
the Parties to the UNFCCC, to be held in Copenhagen 
in December 2009. Within the framework of the 
development partnerships which it had formed, UNDG 
endeavoured to promote synergies, eliminate 
duplication and encourage the developing countries to 
own the development programmes designed for their 
benefit.  

28. Mr. Bouvier (Regional Director, United Nations 
Environment Programme (UNEP) Regional Office for 
Europe (ROE)) said that the panel discussion was 
taking place at a strategic time, namely in the wake of 
two significant events: the first meeting of the 



 

6 09-44233 
 

E/2009/SR.18  

Consultative Group of Ministers or High-level 
Representatives on International Environmental 
Governance, held in Belgrade, Serbia on 27-28 
June 2009, and the Global Environmental Governance 
Forum, held at Glion, Switzerland on 29 June 2009. As 
an outcome of that forum, participants had underscored 
the need for radical change in economic thinking and 
in social attitudes towards the environment.  

29. In view of the economic and financial crisis, 
initiatives such as the Global Green New Deal were of 
particular significance insofar as they mobilized the 
capabilities of the various participating United Nations 
bodies towards a common goal, namely preventing the 
adoption of unsustainable development models by 
developing countries and transition economies in a bid 
to overcome the crisis. Those models mortgaged the 
future of the environment. Actually, the crisis provided 
an opportunity to invest in such sectors as energy-
efficient technologies, renewable energy, public 
transport, ecologically sustainable agriculture and 
sustainable management of natural resources. 

30. As the date of the fifteenth session of the 
Conference of the Parties to the UNFCCC neared and 
the transition of the global economy to low carbon-
emission and energy-consumption activities was under 
way, the pace of that change was still an open question, 
as the transition largely depended on the political will 
of global leaders.  

31. Mr. Stelzer (moderator) observed that the 
panellists had described not only the activities of their 
respective organizations, but also how those bodies 
identified comprehensive and coordinated solutions 
through the United Nations system. That new attitude 
had been noticeable for a few years. For instance, the 
term “climate change” had been coined in the 1990s. 
Yet only when the Member States had demanded 
concerted measures had CEB, for the first time, 
adopted a common position, which the United Nations 
Secretary-General had then presented at the thirteenth 
session of the Conference of the Parties to the 
UNFCCC (Bali, December 2007) as the point of view 
of the United Nations system as a whole, lending it 
additional weight during the negotiations.  

32. A second example related to the 2008 food crisis. 
Food shortages problem had by no means been a new 
problem. In fact, various summits had already been 
held and a number of strategies had been adopted on 
that issue but those strategies had never been 

implemented. In 2008, however, hunger riots had 
broken out in 22 countries within one week, turning the 
food crisis into a security issue and a United Nations 
emergency. CEB, whose 2008 session had coincided 
with the riots, had held a small informal discussion 
with the United Nations Secretary-General who, a few 
hours later, had issued a brief communiqué specifying 
measures to be taken by every United Nations body 
concerned in order to find a concerted solution to the 
crisis. The High-Level Task Force on the Global Food 
Security Crisis, set up subsequent to that meeting, had 
become functional within a short time. In six weeks, it 
had drawn up the Comprehensive Framework for 
Action (CFA). The Economic and Social Council had 
played a significant role in that process, holding, for 
the first time, an emergency session on the food crisis. 
The Security Council President’s unprecedented 
attendance at one of the meetings of the Economic and 
Social Council had highlighted the relation between 
economic and social problems on one hand and global 
security on the other.  

33. The food crisis was not due to scarcity of 
foodstuffs but to inequalities in the distribution of such 
products among regions. Theoretically, global food 
production could meet mankind’s food needs. 
Hopefully, the resources necessary for implementing 
the strategies coordinated by the United Nations, and in 
particular the CFA drawn up by the High-Level Task 
Force on the Global Food Security Crisis, would 
become available thanks to the recent G8 
commitments. Lastly, he invited the participants to 
engage in dialogue with the panellists. 

34. Mr. Oldham (Canada), noting that the panellists 
had largely referred to broad and abstract principles, 
such as coordination and partnership, asked whether 
the bodies which they represented took steps to ensure 
that those principles were applied when programmes 
were implemented in the countries concerned and that 
the persons entrusted with such implementation had 
sufficiently assimilated those principles.  

35. Mr. Mbuende (Namibia) asked whether WMO 
offered training programmes to ensure that its staff 
members who participated in intergovernmental 
negotiations on climate change were adequately 
qualified for that task and able to share the knowledge 
they had in their area of competence. Noting that the 
scale of the climate change adaptation projects referred 
to was too modest to allow any noticeable impact, he 



 

09-44233 7 
 

 E/2009/SR.18

wondered whether more ambitious strategies could be 
developed in that area.  

36. With regard to the mitigation of climate change 
effects, setting the percentage of reduction in 
greenhouse gas emissions was less crucial than 
determining the extent to which non-emitting 
developing countries suffering the consequences of 
such emissions could absorb those effects. That 
question was almost never discussed and no one sought 
the views of those mainly concerned. Lastly, since 
transition to an ecologically sustainable economy was 
too costly for developing countries in the short term 
and they therefore needed technology transfer to 
engage effectively in such a process, the developed 
countries should form partnerships with countries 
aspiring to environment-friendly industrialization. 
Accordingly, he would be glad to know how the United 
Nations planned to ensure that the developed countries 
honoured their commitments in that regard.  

37. Mr. Khan (Pakistan), observing that the issues of 
sustainable development and the economic and 
financial crisis fell under the purview of various bodies 
and CEB mainly ensured operational coherence, said 
that it would be appropriate to address also the issue of 
coherence among the various standard-setting activities 
undertaken. He would welcome information on how 
the United Nations bodies could contribute to ensuring 
such coherence.  

38. Mr. Bonamigo (Brazil) said that Brazil followed 
with great interest the debate currently taking place in 
FAO with regard to food security, the relation between 
food and energy and the controversial issue of biofuel. 
He wished to stress that those matters called for 
concerted action by the international community and 
for the establishment of close partnerships. 

39. Mr. Stelzer (moderator) requested the panellists 
to use specific examples to illustrate the points made in 
their replies. The main question was how to integrate 
the various activities, especially standard-setting 
action, at the global, regional and national levels. In 
the framework of CEB, the Secretary-General met with 
the 28 heads of the organizations of the United Nations 
system twice a year. CEB was based on three pillars. 
HLCP performed normative functions; it examined the 
policies and decisions submitted for adoption. HLCM 
dealt with issues related to administrative practice and 
security within the system. UNDG ensured linkage at 
country level and was tasked with implementing 

decisions made in the framework of CEB. The issue of 
measures to be taken for adapting national programmes 
to the situation caused by the crisis was currently under 
discussion. Thus, the Executive Committee on 
Economic and Social Affairs (EC ESA) was convening 
at the same time as the current meeting to discuss, in 
particular, ways of making the system’s 
macroeconomic expertise available to the countries.  

40. Mr. Jarraud (Secretary-General of the World 
Meteorological Organization (WMO)), referring to the 
link between high-level coordination and action on the 
ground, stressed that the United Nations system 
included resident and non-resident organizations and 
programmes. Some non-resident organizations worked 
on the ground through national bodies. For instance, 
WMO called on national meteorological units, was 
such an example. It was therefore necessary to 
synchronize action and to ensure that the national 
bodies concerned established contact with the 
non-resident organizations’ units on the ground. 
Accordingly, WMO requested national meteorological 
units to maintain liaison with the local UNEP office or 
other resident organizations, for instance FAO or WFP 
with regard to food security.  

41. As a specific example of inter-agency coordination 
on the ground, he referred to a pilot project carried out 
in Ethiopia with a view to forestalling the effects of 
drought and introducing financial tools for responding to 
that phenomenon in a timely manner. WFP, FAO, the 
World Bank and various other partners participated in 
the project and WMO provided support. The role of 
WMO consisted in pre-defining objective indicators for 
determining quickly, at any given time, whether or not 
drought was at hand, thereby obviating the need for 
lengthy discussions. Another example was the 
International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (ISDR), a 
framework project whose participants included all 
organizations of the United Nations system and some 
non-system bodies, such as the International Committee 
of the Red Cross (ICRC) and the World Bank. The 
tsunami which had struck South Asia in December 2004 
had highlighted how difficult it was to set up a 
functional national mechanism for addressing rare 
situations. To that end, it was necessary to adopt a multi-
hazard approach, as the United Nations had been doing 
through ISDR. That way, in Bangladesh, recourse to the 
same infrastructure - alarm systems, telecommunications 
and media - was possible in case of a tsunami, tidal 
wave or storm. 



 

8 09-44233 
 

E/2009/SR.18  

42. He admitted that the United Nations had failed in 
a number of cases because it had been impossible to 
pool the resources needed but assured the participants 
that the system sought to draw the right lessons from 
those failures. The difficulties encountered in 
achieving coordination at the international level were 
of same nature as those faced by countries in ensuring 
national coordination. Overcoming those difficulties 
required concerted action.  

43. The role of WMO in the UNFCCC process 
consisted in providing necessary information, 
particularly through IPCC, whose report formed the 
basis for all discussions on adapting to climate change 
and mitigating its effects. Such discussions included 
deliberations on the required funding, which should be 
viewed from a long-term (50- or 100-year) perspective. 
The work of WCC-3 was expected to make a positive 
contribution to the UNFCCC process. The outcome of 
that conference, particularly regarding assistance to 
developing countries and capacity transfer, would be 
crucial to the implementation of decisions to be made 
at the fifteenth session of the Conference of the Parties 
to the UNFCCC in 2009. 

44. Ms. Söder (Assistant Director-General at the 
Office of United Nations Coordination and Millennium 
Development Goals Follow-up of the Food and 
Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)) 
said that the “Delivering as One” pilot projects carried 
out in eight countries were specifically aimed at 
sustainable development and showed how policies 
could translate into tangible measures and how a 
certain coherence could be ensured among operations 
on the ground. Thus, in Vietnam, the Government had 
constructed an environment-friendly building which 
would house all United Nations organizations present 
in the country. The slowness of the process was partly 
due to competition among the various organizations, 
which vied for resources as they all sought progress on 
the ground. Actually, the more they would succeed in 
arranging joint project funding and partnerships, such 
as the “Delivering as One” initiative, the more they 
would manage to pool their efforts and resources. The 
work of UNDG was increasingly guided by that 
approach with a view to setting up a joint results-based 
system.  

45. The work carried out as part of the UNFCCC 
process for implementing development plans was 
another example of coordination efforts at country 
level. The difficulty lay in distinguishing between tasks 

aimed at development and steps designed purely to 
ensure adaptation to climate change, the two aspects 
being interrelated. Yet promoting sustainable 
development by using the system’s accumulated 
knowledge amounted to facilitating adaptation. In that 
connection, it was to be hoped that, subsequent to the 
fifteenth session of the Conference of the Parties to the 
UNFCCC, both the developing and the donor countries 
would make use of that knowledge. 

46. She recalled that, under the Charter of the United 
Nations, one of the functions of the Economic and 
Social Council consisted in coordinating the various 
organizations of the United Nations system. The 
meeting held early in the week to consider ways in 
which the United Nations system could contribute to 
solving the economic crisis constituted a recent 
example of efforts to enhance coordination between 
activities in order to obtain better results.  

47. Mr. Bouvier (Regional Director, United Nations 
Environment Programme (UNEP) Regional Office for 
Europe (ROE)) referred to a series of specific examples 
of cooperation among the organizations of the United 
Nations system. A project jointly implemented by 
UNEP and the United Nations Industrial Development 
Organization (UNIDO) in a dozen countries, including 
Haiti, Rwanda and Tajikistan, aimed at setting up 
national centres for reducing pollution generated by 
production. A joint UNDP-UNEP programme 
addressed the relationship between poverty and 
environmental issues. UNDP, UNEP, the Organization 
for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE), the 
North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO), the United 
Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) 
and the Regional Environment Centre for Central and 
Eastern Europe (REC) participated in the Environment 
and Security Initiative (ENVSEC), set up in the 
Balkans, Caucasus and Central Asia with a view to 
implementing, in cooperation with national bodies, 53 
specific projects designed to ensure that sustainable 
development and the environment were taken into 
consideration in addressing security issues. UNDP and 
UNEP had launched the “Territorial Approach to 
Climate Change” initiative in partnership with the 
United Nations Institute for Training and Research 
(UNITAR) and the United Nations Human Settlements 
Programme (UN-Habitat). That initiative promoted 
capacity-building at the national and sub-national 
levels with a view to developing projects related to 
climate change, which could be implemented after the 



 

09-44233 9 
 

 E/2009/SR.18

Conference of the Parties to the UNFCCC. In fact, a 
major difficulty expected to arise in the wake of that 
Conference, especially if it was successful, would be 
the implementation of the mechanisms which would 
have been adopted.  

48. Those examples attested to genuine cooperation 
on the ground. Such cooperation, building on earlier 
contacts established by the various organizations with 
the national authorities, was conducive to 
comprehensive action and helped to combine certain 
partners’ national view of environmental issues with a 
more international or regional approach specific to 
those organizations. Referring to the issue of standard-
setting action and coherence, he suggested seeking 
guidance in the Report of the Joint Inspection Unit for 
2008 and programme of work for 2009 (A/63/34), 
which indicated that the Global Ministerial 
Environment Forum should not address itself solely to 
UNEP but to the system as a whole, thereby promoting 
coherence at both the normative and the financial 
levels.  

49. Mr. Stelzer (moderator) noted that the issues 
dealt with had not been exhausted and could elicit 
further responses as part of the process for enhancing 
coherence across the United Nations system. 

The meeting rose at 6 p.m. 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


